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CRIMG AL COM PLAU T MY TELEPHONE OR OTHER RELIABLE ELECTRONIC M EANS

1, the complainanl in this case, state that the 'followimg is tnlc tothe best of my kn'owledge and belief.

On or about th: datets) of Mav zozfl
.
ltlrough Auqust 2020 in the counties of Brpw@rd an# Miami-D@d: in the

. Sguthern District of Floridà , the defendantts) violated;

Codè s'ecfitpl Ofense Descriptîott

Bank and Wire Fratld (al1 Defendants)18 U.S.C. â 1349

18 U-.S.C. â 1343

18 U.S.C. â 1957

Conspiracy to Commit

Wire Fraud (aI1 Defendants)

Mbney Laundering (all Defendants)

Tllis ctiminal complaint is based on the,e facts:

SEE AU ACHED AFFIDAVIT,

# Cfmtintled on the attachcd shcet

. 
.tt

iilttlnl.ï f/lzlz/ pr 4i, t? (tI ?rdr

A.lzstin Mayberlyo-sre-qim-l A.g,g.p.t-.lRS-.-..- ..-cj
lnt-ltï Jtr t/ ?It3 ,?? t, rl?tz/ ? itltp
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AFFIDAVIT

1, Austin M ayberry, being first duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows:

INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACK GROUND

1 am a Special Agent with the United States Department of Treasury, lnternal

Revenue Service, Criminal Investigation ($IRS-CI''). l have been so employed since 2018. l am

presently assigned to the M iam i Field Oftsce. 1 earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Accounting

in 2008 and a M aster of Accounting degree in 2009. 1 am a licensed Certifed Public Accountant

and Certitsed Fraud Examiner. 1 completed training at the N ational Criminal Investigator Training

Academy at the Federal Law Enforcement Training Center in Glynco, Georgia. This included the

Crim inal lnvestigator Training and the Special Agent Basic Techniques Programs in which I

received extensive training in conducting fnancial investigations that involve analyzing books and

records of individuals and businesses, stlch asjournals, ledgers, bank accounts, invoices, receipts,

and other records evidencing violationsaof the lnternal Revenue Code and other Gnancial crimes.
:

I have participated in and directed numerous criminal investigations involving fraud against the

government, tax fraud, and many other illegal schemes. Based on my experience, training, and

knowledge, as well as discussions with other law enforcem ent agents, 1 am fam iliar with the

manner and means by which criminals engage financial crim es and money laundering schemes.

1 make this Affdavit in support of a criminal complaint charging ROBERTO

GERONIMO ($$GERON1MO''), MARPENSON VARC (<çMARC''), and WALLY DORLUS

ISCDORLUS''I (collectively, EtDefendants''), from in or around May 2020, through in or around

August 2020, with wire fraud, bank fratld, attempt and conspiracy to commit wire fraud and bank

fraud, and money laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. jj 1343, 1344, 1349, and 1957, in the

Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere (the Sd-l-arget Offenses').
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The facts in this Affdavit come from my personal observations, my training and

experience, and information obtained from other members of law enforcement and from witnesses.

This Afidavit is intended to show merely that there is sufficient probable cause for the Target

Offenses and does not set forth al1 of niy knowledge or law enforcement's knowledge about this

m atter.

PROBABLE CAUSE

Overview of the Pavcheck Protection Proeram and Pavroll Documentation

4. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security ($;CARES'') Act is a federal

law enacted in or around M arch 2020 designed to provide emergency financial assistance to the

millions of Americans who are suffering the economic effects caused by the COV1D-19 pandem ic.

One source of relief provided by the CARES Act was the authorization of up to $349 billion in

forgivable loans to small bujinesses fPr job retention and certain other expenses, through a

program referred to as the Paycheck Protection Program ($(PPP''). ln or around April 2020,

Congress authorized over $300 billion in additional PPP funding.

5. ln order to obtain a PPP loan, a qualifying business must submit a PPP loan

application, which is signed by an authorized representative of the business. The PPP loan

application requires the business (through its authorized representative) to acknowledge the

program rules and make certain affirmgtive certifcations in order to be eligible to obtain a PPP

loan. In the PPP loan application, the small business (through its authorized representative) must

state, among other things, its: (a) average monthly payroll expenses; and (b) number of employees.

These figures are used to calculate the amount of money the small business is eligible to receive

under the PPP.

6.

institution showing their payroll expenses for salaried employees.

Businesses applying for a PPP loan must provide documentation to the lending
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In general, an employer is obligated to report to the IRS, with an 1RS Form 94l ,

the number of salaried employees who receive lRS W -2s, and, with a different 1RS form, the

number of independent contractors who receive 1RS 1099s. In Florida, employers must report the

number of salaried employees (i.e., those who should receive IRS W-2s) to the Florida Department

of Revenue, but do not have to report the number of independent contractors who receive lRS

1099s.

Further, on April 15, 2020, the U.S. Small Business Administration ($;SBA'') issued

an lnterim Final Rule to im plement the PPP loan product and delineate certain eligibility

requirements. See Business Loan Program Temporary Changes; Paycheck Protection Program, 85

Fed. Reg. 73, 2081 1 (Apr. 15, 2020) (to be codified at 13 C.F.R. pt. 120) (hereinafter, the ITPP

lnterim Final Rule''j. As relevant here, a business is ineligible for a PPP loan if ''laln owner of 20

percent or more of the equity of the applicant is . . . presently subject to an indictment, criminal

information, an-aignment, or other means by which formal crim inal charges are brought in any

jurisdictionl.l'' See Part 11l.2.b.iii of the PPP lnterim Final Rule. The PPP Ioan application requires

the business (through its authorized representative) to certify whether or not any owner of 20

percent or more of the equity of the business is presently subject to an indictment, criminal

information, an-aignment, or other means by which formal criminal charges are brought in any

jurisdiction.

9. A PPP loan application must be processed by a participating lender. lf a PPP loan

application is approved, the participating lender funds the PPP loan using its own monies, which

are 100% guaranteed by the SBA. Data from the application, including information about the

borrower, the total amount of the loan, and the listed number of employees, is transmitted by the

lender to the SBA'in the course of proceysing the loan. In the ordinary course of providing the loan
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guaranty, neither the SBA nor any othe? government agency confirms through 1RS records that

the applicant had actually paid the payroll taxes represented in the PPP applications.

10. PPP loan proceeds must be used by the business on certain permissible expenses-

payroll costs, interest on mortgages, reni, and utilities. The PPP allows the interest and principal

on the PPP loan to be entirely forgiven if the business spends the loan proceeds on these expense

items within a designated period of time after receiving the proceeds and uses a certain amount of

the PPP loan proceeds on payroll expenses.

The Financial lnstitutions

This AfGdavit references Gnancial institutions that are headquartered in the United

States and insured by the Federal Deposit lnsurance Corporation, including Bank 1, Bank 2, Bank

3, Bank 4, Bank 5, and Bank 6.

Bank 1 and Bank 2 partiçipated in the SBA 'S PPP as lenders and, as such, were

authorized to lend funds to eligible borrowers under the terms of the PPP.

Bank Processor 1 is a cqmpany based in Redwood City, California that processes

small business loans through a server located in Northern Virginia. Bank Processor l participated

in the PPP by acting as a service provider between small businesses and certain banks, including

Bank 1 and Bank 2. Small businesses seeking PPP loans could apply electronically through Bank

Processor 1 for PPP loans. Bank Procesjor 1 would review thç loan application and, if approved,

a partner bank disbursed the loan funds to the applicant.

The Defendants. Co-conspirators. and Their Com panies

14. DORLUS was a registered tax preparer who operated a business called Commercial

Multi Services, Inc. ($$CMS''), in Plantqtion, Florida. According to the Florida Secretary of State,

at al1 relevant times, DORI,US was the President of CM S. According to Comcast records, Internet

4
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Protocol (($1P'') address ending in .64 (SCDORLUS 1P'') was associated with the business address

for CM S in Plantation, Florida from at least M ay 2020, through August 2020.

15. According to the Florida Departm ent of State website, DORLUS was an officer or

director of several other entities, including W C Studio, Inc. (($WCS''), Wawa Cleaning, Inc., and

Easy Liquor, LLC, all of which use the same business address as CM S. DORT,US was also listed

as a Director of Reliable Tax Solutions, lnc. ($dRS1'') until January 24, 2021.

According to the Florida Department of State website, at a1l relevant times, M ARC

was the sole manager of G.A.C Holdings & lnvestlnents LLC (t1GAC'') in Deerfield Beach,

Florida. According to the Florida Department of State website and financial records at Bank 4,

GAC did business under the fictitious nam e, ddGenson Automotive Group.''

l7. CHS 1 is an individual cooperating with 1aw enforcement. According to CHS l and

the Florida Department of State website, at a1l relevant tim es, CHS l controlled Company l and

bank accounts in its name.

18. According to the Florida Department of State website,at al1 relevant times,

GERONIMO was the President of Brothers Spirits Corp. ($%SC''), which operated a liquor store

in M iami Beach, Florida.

On or about February 6, 2020, a federal grand jury in the Southern District of

Florida returned an indictment charging OERONIM O with conspiracy to distribute tsve kilograms

or more of cocaine, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Sections 846 & 841(a)(1). See

Case Np. 20-20066-CR-WILLlAMS (S.D. Fla.). On or about February 17, 2020, GERONIMO

was arrested, and subsequently made an initial appearance before the Honorable M agistrate Judge

Chris M . M cAliley. At a1l relevant times and currently, GERONIM O was on bond pending trial

in that case.
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The Defendants' Schem e to Obtain Fraudulent PPP Loans

20. Based on the facts set fol'th herein, there is probable cause to believe that

Defendants participated in a conspiracy and scheme to obtain by fraud millions of dollars in

forgivable loans from Gnancial institutions, including Bank 1 and Bank 2, that were made available

through the CARES Act, including PPP loans. Through PPP loan applications that were subm itted

electronically through Bank Processor l from the DORLUS IP associated with the CM S ofsce,

Defendants obtained and attempted to obtain fraudulent PPP loans for their own companies with

falsified employee and payroll information. Defendants also conspired to recruit additional loan

applicants to provide basic company information to be submitted, along with employee and payroll

information falsitsed by DORLUS, as part of fraudulent PPP loan applications in exchange for

kickbacks, ranging from 12.5% to 25% of the loan am ount.

From in or around M ay 2020, through in or around August 2020, approximately

167 PPP loan applications seeking approximately $28 million in PPP loan funds were created

and/or accessed electronically through Bank Processor 1 using the DORLUS 1P. Of those, l43 or

approximately 8 1% were declined or approved but then cancelled. The remaining approximately

33 PPP applications were approved and funded, with over $5.5 million dollars in PPP loans paid

out by financial institutions, including Bank 1 and Bank 2, participating in the PPP program.

22. Law enforcement obtained approxim ately 167 PPP loan application files that were

submitted to Bank Processor 1 from the DORLUS 1P. The PPP loan applications were submitted

on behalf of companies under DORLUS' control, as well as over a hundred other companies. A

review of the PPP loan applications revealed that many of them contained material

lnisrepresentations about the applicants' number of eluployees and payroll obligations.

Speciscally, many applications included purported IRS Forms 941 that reported payroll

6
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obligations for salaried employees in excess of those reported, if any, to the Florida Department

of Revenue. Bank records for accounts under the control of DOIILUS, M ARC, CHS 1, and

GERONIM O revealed the tlow of kickbacks from loan recipients, through recruiters, to DORLUS.

On or about November 6, 2020, law enforcement executed a search warrant at

CM S, during which physical and electronic evidence was seized related to the fraudulent PPP

loans. Law enforcement subsequently seized and searched, pursuant to search warrants and

consent, cellular telephones belonging to DORLUS and CHS 1.

DORLUS Sought Fraudulent PPP Loansfor Himselfand Companies Under His Control

SBA and Bank Processor 1 records revealed that at least the following seven PPP

loan applications that identified DORLUS as the applicant or principal of the applicant had been

submitted electronically through Bank Processor l using the DORLUS IP:

'

qLt: . . ' A lied :! ' . :.. : ' . ' 'i Ijtz inyss Name .
.

' 

g( PP , ' st>ws ' kmount @ .l
,@q, ' !.. . .. . . y ,,,, Dati ;.:'.

'
,. 

. 

' ' 

. .
.
. 
., ... , . . .F . . . . . r. 

'' . . . . .. 'f ..

COMW RCIAL MULTI 5/4/2020 Rejected $241
,377

SERVICES INC
commercial multi service in 5/14/2020 Re'ected $282,165

COMMERCIAL MULTI- 6/14/2020 Rejected $249
,990

SERVICES INC

COMMERCIAL MULTI j 4qg6 17/2020 Rejected $176
,SERVICES INC

W C STUDIO INC 6/17/2020 Re'ected $195,375
WALLY DORLUS 6/23/2020 A roved and Disbursed $20,833
W C STUDIO INC 7/17/2020 Re'ected $217,000

25. 0n the CM S server, 1aw enforcement identified documents that had been subm itted

electronically to Bank Processor 1 in slipport of tàe PPP loan applications for W C Studio, Inc.

(WCS) and Commercial Multi Services, Inc. (CMS).

26. The four applications for CMS (or iterations of the name) all contained the same

Federal Employer Identification Number (47-3342665), and business address at 2975 West

Com mercial Boulevard, Fort Lauderdalè, Florida 33309. Annual revenue figures on each of the

CM S applications, an amount entered by the applicant when activating an account with Bank
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Processor 1, a1l differed, ranging from approximately $275,000 to $4,149,600. Each application's

reported annual payroll dii-fered, with amounts ranging from approximately $827,1 80 to

$1,048,264.

One CM S application, submitted on or about June 17, 2020, claimed 1 1 employees,

while another, submitted on or about M ay 4, 2020, claimed 23 employees. Accordingto the Florida

Department of Revenue records, however, CM S reported having only one employee with $4,000

of gross wages in the first quarter of 2019. CM S did not report any employees or wages from the

second quarter of 2019 through present to the Florida Department of Revenue.

28. M oreover, the 1RS Forms 941 submitted in suppot of the M ay 4, 2020 PPP loan

application for a loan to fund payroll for 23 employees were obviously fabricated. Even though

the application was submitted in M ay 2020, the completed 1RS Form s 941 were for the second

(April, May, and June) and third (July; 'August, and September) quarters of 2020---even though

those quarters had not yet occurred. All of those 2020 IRS Forms 94l were completed

electronically and included the typewritten name Ctwallydorlus'' in the signature box next to a

typewritten date of M ay 21, 2020. That PPP loan application for CM S was denied.

29. The one loan that was funded also was based on fraudulent supporting tax

documents. According to SBA and Bank Processor l records, on or about June 24, 2020, a PPP

loan application seeking $20,833 for çdWally Dorlus'' as a sole proprietor was submitted from the

DORLUS IP through Bank Processor 1 . The PPP application claimed d;W ally Dorlus,'' as a sole

proprietor, had three employees, with an average monthly payroll of $8,333.20.

30. Even though the PPP loan was subm itted for (CW ally Dorlus'' as a sole proprietor,

Bank Processor 1 's loan file included a Schedule C (titled, (dprotst or Loss From Business'')

attached to an 1RS Form 1040 1RS Form 1040 (titled, ISU.S. lndividual lncome Tax Return'') for

8
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an company called dtReliable Tax Solutio (sicj,'' which, according to the Florida Secretary of State

website, was a registered corporation, and not a sole proprietorship. The 1RS Form 1040 did not

retlect any employees or wages consistent with those claim ed in the PPP application. M oreover,

the 1RS Form 1040 reflected that it was prepared by an alleged employee of CM S, and included

that individual's name and preparer tax identitscation number. According to preparer tax

identification records, however, that individual's preparer tax identiGcation number had expired

years prior.

31. Based on the false representations made in the loan application paperwork and

supporting documents, the PPP loan application for 'tW ally Dorlus'' was approved, and on or about

June 26, 2020, Bank 2 wired approximately $20,833 in loan proceeds into a DORLUS bank

account at Bank 3.

Based on a review of DORLUS' Bank 3 records for the approximately one month

following receipt of the PPP loan, DORLUS' activity included, but was not lim ited to, payment of

credit card bills, purchases at tobacco and liquor stores, and a withdrawal of funds through an

ATM . No payroll activity was identified,

DORLUS Submitted Over $28 Million ofFraudulent PPP Loan Applicatlons on Behalfof
Others in Exchangefor Kickbacks

33. Records obtained from the SBA, Bank Processor 1, Florida Department of

Revenue, and CM S'S office revealed that many of the approximately remaining 169 PPP loan

applications submitted through the DORLUS IP for applicants not controlled by DORLUS also

included purported 1RS Form s 941 that reported payroll obligations for salaried employees in

excess of those reported, if any, to the Florida Departm ent of Revenue.

9
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34. Through the search of CM S'S office, 1aw enforcement obtained the following

evidence that DORLUS knowingly sublnitted these PPP loan applications with false statements

about payroll obligations and fraudulent supporting payroll documentation:

a. DORLUS created the lRS Forms 941. Specifically, 1aw enforcement located dozens

of these 1RS Forms 941, purportedly for the year 2019, on the CM S servers with document

properties reflecting that the documents were created on or about the same day as their affiliated

PPP loan applications.

b. DORLUS created email addresses in the names of the applicants that were included

as contact information on the PPP loan applications. Specifically, in an office that had a certitscate

in DORI,US' name on the wall, law enforcement located a legal pad with a list of email addresses

and passwords. In addition, subscriber records for a sample of those email addresses revealed that

the accounts were ever only accessed from the DORLUS IP on the date of creation.

c. DORLUS kept records of the basic com pany information that was submitted as part

of the PPP loan applications and supplçmented with the fraudulent 1RS Forms 941. ln a filing

cabinet in the CM S oftsce, law enforcement located printouts from the Florida Secretary of State

website for dozens of entities for which PPP loan applications were subm itted from the DORLUS

IP. M any of those printouts contained handwritten notes with the personal identifcation

information (e.g., name, date of birth, social security number) of the applicants' principals.

d. DORLUS received kickbacks of 12.5% to 25% of the PPP loan proceeds. M any of

those same Florida Secretary of State printouts contained handwritten notes calculating kickbacks

owed based on a percentage of the ultimate loan amount. In addition to the records seized from

CM S' office, bank records for DORLUS' companies revealed that he received, into various

company bank accounts, checks equal to 12.5% to 25% of loan proceeds from various of the PPP
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loan recipients. Further, in a desk drawer, law enforcement located a kickback check issued by

CHS 1 to W CS on or about July 10, 2020. The desk was in the same office that had a certificate in

DORLUS' name on the wall.

By way of example, on or about July 23, 2020, a PPP loan application for Company

2 was initiated electronically with Bank Processor 1 from the DORLUS 1P. According to Florida

Department of Revenue records, Company 2 never reported any salaried employees. The PPP loan

application, however, repoted that Company 2 had an annual payroll of $1,248,000 for 2019. ln

support of the application, an 1RS Form 940 (titled ddEmployer's Annual Federal Unemployment

(FUTA) Tax Return'') for 20 19 was electronically subMitted. The IRS Form 940 purported that

Company 2 had an annual payrollof $1,248,000 for 2019. The 1RS Form 940 included a

typewritten name in the signature box with a typewritten date of July 22, 2020.

In addition, during the search warrant at CM S, investigators seized corporate

records and an approval letter pertaining to Company 2's PPP loan. The corporate records included

a Florida Department of State, Division of Corporations printout for Company 2, dated July 22,

2020. In addition to the printed busines details necessary to complete an application for a PPP loan

through Bank Processor 1, handwritten notes on the printout represented personally identifiable

information such as social security number, telephone num ber, birthdate, and address for the

individual represented as the principal of Company 2 according to the PPP loan application

submitted to Bank Processor 1.

Based on the representations m ade in the loan application paperwork and

supporting documents, the PPP loan application for Company 2 was approved on or about August

4, 2020 for $260,000 and funded by Bank 2.
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38. On or about August 6, 2020, according to bank records for DORLUS' company,

W CS, at Bank 3, a check, dated August 5, 2020, and signed by the same individual represented as

the principal of Company 2, was deposited into W CS' account for which DORLUS was the sole

signatory. The memo line of the check stated: dtconsult/Bookkeeping.'' The approximate amount

of the check was $32,500, which was exactly 12.5% of the PPP loan proceeds received by

Company 2 from Bank 2.

Based on a preliminary review of bank records to date, DORLUS received

approximately $241,41 6 in deposits to accounts under his control directly from entities that

obtained PPP loans that were initiated from the DORIX S lP.

D ORLUS Conspired with MARC to Recruit PPP Loan Applicants

in Exchangefor a Sltare oftlte Kickbacks

40. Throughoutthe course of the investigation, 1aw enforcement obtained evidence that

from in or around June 2020, through in or around August 2020, DORLUS worked directly with

at least one other individual, M ARC, to recruit PPP loan applicants in exchange for a share of the

kickbacks.

41. A prelim inary analysis of Bank 4 records for accounts controlled by M ARC

reflected that, from on or about June 2020, through in or around August 2020, bank accounts under

MARC'S control received appl-oximately $46,327 directly from individuals and/or entities that

each obtained PPP loan funds as the result of PPP loan applications submitted through the

DORLUS IP and/or for which associated records were seized from CM S'S ofGce.

M ARcRecruited CHS 1 into the Scheme

M ARC, in turn, recruited at least one other individual, CHS 1, to not only apply for

a fraudulent PPP loan through DORLUS, but to recruit additional PPP loan applicants in exchange

for a credit on the kickbgck CHS 1 owed.

12

Case 0:21-mj-06175-PMH   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/23/2021   Page 13 of 23



0n or about June 3, 2020, at approximately 4:57 p.m., M ARC sent a text message

to CHS 1 that said: $;Ok perfect & 1 got som ething for you regarding PPP.. call m e.'' Approximately

three hours later, M ARC sent a W hatsApp message to CHS 1 that said:

Here's what 1 need from you.
DRIVER LICENSE FRONT AND BACK

FEBRUARY BANK STATEM ENT
BUSINESS EIN#
BUSINESS NAM E

INCORPORATED DATE
SS#
CONTACT#

AND AN EM AIL
and how much do you want me to try and get for you.

44. According to CHS 1, on or about June 3, 2020 and the following days, CHS 1 and

M ARC had various conversations during which M ARC told CHS 1 that he could help CHS 1

obtain PPP loans, but that the (çfee'' was 20% of the loan amount. W hen CHS 1 tried to bargain

with M ARC about the 20% fee, M ARC told CHS 1 that CHS 1 would not have to pay the 20%

fee if CHS l provided M ARC with ten other PPP loan applicants. CHS 1 then agreed with M ARC

to provide M ARC with information about companies under CHS 1 's control and others to apply

for fraudulent PPP loans. ln exchange, CHS 1 would then facilitate the loan recipients' payments

of 20% of the loan proceeds as kickbacks to M ARC and, as directed by M ARC, to other co-

conspirators, including DORLUS.

0n or about June 9, 2020, CHS 1 sent a W hatsApp message to M ARC with the

requested information about Company l , a company under CHS l 's control, to be submitted for a

PPP loan in the amount of $750,000 for six (6) employees. CHS 1 did not supply any payroll or

tax records to be submitted as part of the PPP loan application. Further, the Florida Departm ent of

Revenue records for Company 1 in 2019 and 2020 showed that Company 1 reported no employees

and had paid $0 in wages in 2019 and 2.020.

13
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Bank Processor 1 and SBA records revealed that, on or about June 18, 2020, a PPP

loan application was submitted electronically on behalf of Company 1 through Bank Processor 1

using the DORI,US 1P. The Company 1 PPP loan application requested a PPP loan in the

approximate amount of $175,022 purportedly to pay a monthly payroll of approximately $70,009

for 31 employees. Fotlr quarterly 1RS Forms 941 for 2019 with identical tsgures were attached to

the application, which purported to repol't that Company l had 31 salaried employees and total

quarterly wages of $365,100.

47. During the search of CM S' office, law enforcem ent located printouts of Company

1's SsDetail by Entity Name'' page from the Florida Secretary of State website and the approval

letter from Bank Processor 1. The approval letter contained a handwritten notation calculating 10%

of the loan amount.

48. On or about June 19, 2020, Bank 1 deposited approximately $175,022 in PPP funds

into Company 1's business account ending in -1515, for which CHS 1 was an authorized signatory.

Ultimately, CHS 1 spent the PPP loan proceeds on personal expenditures.

49. According to CHS 1, messages on CHS 1 's phone, and corresponding bank records,

among other evidence, to avoid having to pay the 20% kickback, CHS 1 recruited at least 20

companies and provided their information to M ARC to cause fraudulent PPP loans applications to

be submitted on their behalf. At least four of CHS 1 's referrals had PPP or other CARES Act SBA

loans funded.

W ith regard to the PPP Ioans or other CARES Act SBA loans funded for CHS 1 's

Company l ; GERONIM O'S company, BSC; and two other CHS 1 referrals, M ARC sent to CHS

1 screenshots of the SBA loan approvals and/or called CHS 1 to tell him/her the funded loan

amount. CHS 1 and M ARC subsequently met in person, and M ARC told CHS 1 how to structure

14
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the 20% kickback payments across DORLUS' company, W CS; M ARC'S company, GAC;

Individual 1, whom CHS 1 knew to be M ARC'S spouse; and cash.

51. CHS 1, in turn, facilitated the payments of the kickbacks to M ARC and DORLUS

according to M ARC'S instructions. For instance, on or about July l0, 2020, CHS 1 obtained two
:

cashier's checks from his Company 1 account at Bank 5. One check was made payable to

DORLUS' company, WCS, in the approximate amount of $20,058, and the other was made

payable to Genson Automotive Group, the fictitious name Of M ARC'S company, GAC, in the

approximate amount of $ 14,327. According to CHS 1, these cashier's checks represented the

kickbacks solicited by M ARC for M ARC and DORLUS.

52. On or about July 10, 2020, the $20,058 cashier's check to W CS was deposited into

a Bank 3 account for W CS controlled by DORLUS. That same day, $32,000 was transferred to a

different W CS account at Bank 3.

53. On or about July l3, 2020, the $14,327 cashier's check was deposited into a Bank

4 account for GAC controlled by MARC. On or about July 14, 2020, a $12,500 withdrawal/transfer

was made to another Bank 4 account controlled by M ARC, from which $12,000 was immediately

transferred to yet another Bank 4 account.

To date, a preliminary review of bank records have identitsed approximately

$76,000 in funds sent by CHS 1 from the Company 1 account at Bank 5 to MARC and DORLUS,

companies under their control, and/or their associates. In addition to the checks issued by CHS 1,

CHS 1 told law enforcement that he provided M ARC with approximately $50,000 in cash to satisfy

kickback payments.

CHS 1 Recrulted GERONIM O into the Scheme

55. One of the individuals recruited by CHS 1 to offset his kickback payment was

GERONIM O. ln or around June 2020, CHS 1 recruited GERONIM O to seek a PPP loan on behalf
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of GERONIM O'S liquor store, BSC, and then facilitated the payment of GERONIM O'S kickback

to M ARC and DORLUS.

56. Based on a prior PPP loan application that was not subm itted as part of this

conspiracy and that contained accurate information about GERONIM O and BSC, GERONIM O

knew what payroll documentation was rçquired to obtain a PPP loan and that individuals subject

to federal indictment, like himself, were ineligible. According to SBA and Bank 1 records, on or

about April 16, 2020, a PPP loan application was submitted on behalf of GERONIM O'S liquor

store, BSC, seeking a PPP loan in the approximate amount of $15,500 to pay an average monthly

payroll of $6,200 for two employees, as well as lease/mortgage, utilities, and inventory expenses.

Therein, GERON IM O was identitsed as the President and 100% owner of BSC. The contact

information for BSC included a telephone number associated with a cell phone, seized on or about

February l7, 2020 from GERONIM O incident to arrest on pending federal drug charges. That

application was subm itted using an IP address that came back to Sprint, which, at that time, was

the cell phone service provider for the telephone number associated with GERONIM O'S cell

phone. BSC'S true and accurate Florida Department of Revenue records, retlecting two salaried

employees, were submitted in support of the PPP loan application. In response to the question

about whether the applicant was subject to indictment, both boxes for yes and no were left blank,

but initialed with $'RG.'' That Ioan ultimately was not funded.

57. According to CHS 1 and corresponding W hatsApp messages, on or about June 14,

2020, in the afternoon, CHS 1 and GERONIM O met at a Hooter's restaurant, and discussed,

among other matters, that CHS 1 knew someone who could help GERONIMO obtain a $150,000

to $200,000 PPP loan for his liquor store for a 20% fee.
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On or about June 14, 2020, at approxim ately 3:30 p.m ., GERONIM O sent a

W hatsApp message to CHS 1 attaching a February 2020 bank statement for BSC.

59. On or about June 14, 2020, between approximately 3:30 p.m. and 3:37 p.m., CHS

l sent to M ARC via W hatsApp the February 2020 bank statement for BSC, photographs of the

front and back of GERONIM O'S driver's license, and the following message:

BUSINESS Em #82-3242040
BUSINESS NAM E: Brothers spirits corp.

W CORPORATED DATE: 10/19/2017

SS#EIIEDACTEDq
CONTACT#EREDACTED)
EMAIL: glllErAtlrl-EllltRhotmail.com
400k 12 employees

60. On or about June 18, 2020, a PPP loan application requesting a PPP loan in the

amount of $249,990 purportedly to pay a monthly payroll of approximately $99,996 for 12

employees was submitted electronically through Bank Processor l on behalf of BSC from the

DORLUS IP.

61. Included with the PPP loan application was an 1RS Form 941-SS (titled,

ttEmployer's Quarterly Federal Tax Return'') for the first quarter (January, February, and March)

of 2020, which purported to report that BSC had 12 employees and quarterly wages of $375,400.

Law enforcement found an electronic version of the same 1RS Form 941-SS for BSC on the CM S

server. The 1RS Form 94l-SS for BSC appeared to be fraudulent for at least three reasons. First,

BSC operated a liquor store in M iami Beach, Florida, yet an 1RS Form 941-SS, which, according

to the 1RS website, is to be used to repol't social security and M edicare taxes for workers in

American Samoa, Guam , the Commonwealth of the Northern M ariana Islands, and the U.S. Virgin

lslands was used. Second, according to the document's file Ssproperties,'' the 1RS Form 941-SS

was created on June 17, 2020. Third, Bank 5 and the Florida Department of Revenue records for
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BSC showed payroll expenses did not exceed $12,770 for no more than two salaried employees

during the first quarter (January, February, and March) of 2020.

62. ln addition to the false statements about the number of salaried employees and

payroll obligations, the PPP loan application contained an additional false statement that

GERONIMO, who was the 100% owner of the applicant, was not subject to an indictment. '

63. The same photographs of the front and back of GERONIM O'S driver's license were

located on CM S'S server. From a filing cabinet at CM S'S offices, law enforcement obtained paper

records related to BSC'S fraudulent PPP loan, including public corporate records for BSC and an

approval letter regarding BSC'S PPP loan application. The corporate records contained

handwritten notes with GERONIM O'S social security num ber, telephone num ber, bi/hdate, and

address. The approval letter retlected ttlat a loan in the amount of $249,990 was approved, and

included handwritten calculations showing a kickback of approximately $64,501 .20 was owed.

64. Based on the representations made in the loan application paperwork and

supporting documents, the PPP loan application for BSC was approved by Bank Processor l , and

on or about June 19, 2020, Bank 2 wired approximately $249,990 in PPP loan proceeds, labeled

as (ISBA loan,'' into a BSC bank account ending in -1104 at Bank 5. GERONIM O was one of two

authorized signors on the account. BSC'S Bank 5 account balance before receiving the PPP loan

was approximately $732.

65. From on or about June l 9, 2020, through on or about July 17, 2020, over $212,000

of the fraudulent PPP loan proceeds Fas spent on personal expenditures and payments to co-

conspirators. During the same period, th.ere were no deposits that would have been able to cover

those expenses besides the proceeds from the fraudulent PPP loan.
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66. For instance, on or about June 25, 2020, there was a cash withdrawal from BSC'S

Bank 5 account for approximately $20,310, which resulted in a cashier's check issued to ajewelry

store located in M iami Lakes, Florida, for approximately $10,800. Another approximately

$ 125,000 of the fraudulent PPP loan proceeds were transferred from the Bank 5 BSC account to

another Bank 5 account with GERONIM O as the sole signatory.

67. According to CHS 1, after the BSC PPP loan was approved, M ARC told CHS 1 the

amount of the kickback GERONIM O owed.

68. On or about June 19, 2020, according to Bank 5 records, GERONIM O caused a

check in the approximate amount of $63,497, made payable to CHS 1, to be drawn from BSC'S

Bank 5 account. According to CHS 1 , the check in the approximate amount of $63,497 constituted

GERONIM O'S payment ef a kickback for the fraudulent PPP loan. That amount was

approximately 25% of the PPP loan amount, which was consistent with the handwritten

cglculations found in the CM S office.

69. According to CHS 1 and bank records, on or about June 19, 2020, CHS 1 deposited

the BSC check into an account in the. name of Company 1 and controlled by CHS 1. That same

day, on M ARC'S instruction, CHS 1 obtained two cashier's checks from Company 1 's Bank 5

account. One check was in the approximate amount of $16,000 and made payable to lndividual 1,

whom, CHS 1 ltnew to be M ARC'S spogse. The other was in the approximate amount of $42,501

and made payable to CM S. Law enforcement seized the $42,501 check to CMS in DORLUS'S

desk drawer during the search warrant.

GERONIMO Attempted to Recruit Others in Exchangefor a Premium on the Kickbacks

70. According to CHS 1, once GERONIM O learned of the kickback structure, he

sought to profit from the scheme. GERONIM O proposed to CHS l that individuals GERONIM O

recruited pay a fee of 25% , with 5% to be kept by GERONIM O. According to CHS 1,
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GERONIM O recruited approximately 15 individuals to obtain PPP loans. From review of CHS

1 's phone, some of those individuals contacted CHS l directly, and CHS 1 forwarded their

information on to M ARC. Further, on or about June 22, 2020, GERON IM O sent messages to CHS
1

1 asking, ddDid they process my boy loan,'' and i(R they doing my homeboy s (sic)(?)'' According

to CHS 1, none of the PPP loan applications for GERONIM O'S recruits were approved.

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing, 1 respectfully submit that there is probable cause to believe

that:

@ From in or around M ay 2020, through in or around August 2020, in Broward and M iami-
Dade Counties, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, W ALLY DORLUS,
M ARCGENSON M ARC, and ROBERTO GERONIM O did willfully, that is, with the

intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly combine, conspire,
confederate, and agree with each other, CHS 1, and with others known and unknown, to

commit offenses against the United States, that is, (a) to knowingly, and with the intent to
defraud, execute, and cause the execution of, a scheme and artifk e to defraud one or more
financial institutions, which scheme and artiGce would employ a material falsehood, and
to knowingly, and with intent to defraud, execute, and cause the execution of, a scheme

and artifice to obtain moneys and funds owned by, and under the custody and control of,
one or more financial institutions, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises relating to a material fact, in violation of Title 18, United

States Code, Sections 134441) and (2); and (b) to knowingly, and with the intent to defraud,
devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artitsce to defraud, and to obtain money and
property by m eans of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and prom ises were false and
fraudulent when made, and, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artitsce, did

knowingly transmit and cause to be transm itted, by means of wire communication in
interstate and foreign comm erce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, all in violation of Title 18, United
States Code, Section 1349;

On or about June 19, 2020, in Broward County, in the Southern District of Florida, and
elsewhere, M ARGENSON M ARC, did knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise,
and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain m oney and property
by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises,
knowing that the pretenses, representations, and prom ises were false and fraudulent when

made, and, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice, did knowingly transmit
and cause to be transm itted, by m eans of wire communication in interstate and foreign
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commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in violation of Title 18,

United States Code, Section 1343;

On or about June 19, 2020, in M iami-Dade and Broward Counties, in the Southern District
of Florida, and elsewhere, ROBERTO GERONIM O, did knowingly, and with the intent to
defraud, devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money

and property by means of materlally false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and
promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and promises were false and
fraudulent when m ade, and, for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice, did

knowingly transm it and cause to be transm itted, by means of wire communication in
interstate and foreign commerce, certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343;

On or about June 25, 2020, in M iami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and
elsewhere, ROBERTO GERONIM O did knowingly engage and attempt to engage in a

monetary transaction by through and to a financial institution, affecting interstate and

foreign commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000 such
property having been derived from specified unlawfully activity, that is, conspiracy to
commit bank fraud and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section

1349, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957;

@ On or about June 26, 2020, in Broward County, in the Southern District of Florida, and
elsewhere, W ALLY DORLUS, did know ingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and

intend to devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and property by

means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and prom ises, knowing
that the pretenses, representations, and prom ises were false and fraudulent when made,
and, for the purpose of executing the schem e and artiice, did knowingly transmit and cause

to be transm itted, by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce,
certain writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, in violation of Title 18, United States

Code, Section 1343; '

On or about July 10, 2020, in Broward County, in the Southern District of Florida, and

elsewhere, W ALLY DORLUS and to a Gnancial institution, affecting interstate and foreign

commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000 such property
having been derived from specified unlawfully activity, that is, conspiracy to commit bank
fraud and wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349, in violation

of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957; and

(REMATNDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK.)
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* On or about luty l 4, 2020, i'n Browarcl Cotlnty, in the Southern District oI' Fltlrida, tltld
elsçwhere. M ARCGENSON M ARC did knowinclv
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'

motietary transaction by through and to a financial institution, affecting intèrstate and

foreign commerce. in criminallv delived propertv of a valtle greater than $ 10,000 such
) e < . j a'.,. 

a. .e v  . j.,;

prùtael-ty havinti been delivèd from specitied unlawfully activity, that is, cùnspiracy to !
cpmmit bank fraud and wirç fratld, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section
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